IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

STROUD CONSTRUCTION, INC.

APPELLANT

VS.

No. 2009-CA-00725

BILL AND CINDY WALSH

APPELLEES

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT STROUD CONSTRUCTION, INC.

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

C. Maison Heidelberg, MB MAISON HEIDELBERG P.A. 795 Woodlands Parkway Suite 220 Ridgeland, MS 39157

Phone: (601) 351-3333 Fax: (601) 956-2090

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

STROUD CONSTRUCTION, INC.

APPELLANT

VS.

No. 2009-CA-00725

BILL AND CINDY WALSH

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (A) Whether the jury verdict in favor of the Walshes in the face of uncontradicted evidence that the Walshes had *not* paid the final construction invoice (yet had paid all others) was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence;
- (B) In light of (A), whether the trial court erred in denying Stroud Construction, Inc.'s motion for directed verdict and/or peremptory instruction declaring the contract to be a cost-plus contract, which would have necessitated a verdict for Stroud on the breach of contract claim due to the Walshes' failure to pay the last invoice; and
- (C) Whether the trial court committed error in refusing Stroud Construction, Inc.'s motion in limine to require that the contract be referred to and characterized as a cost-plus contract and simultaneously preclude references that attempted to mis-characterize the contract as something else, which if granted, would have necessitated a verdict in favor of Stroud on the breach of contract claim, particularly in light of (A).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

On December 3, 2003, Stroud Construction, Inc. ("Stroud"), filed suit against Bill and Cindy Walsh for breach of contract. (R. 000012.)¹ Stroud sought damages because it had built the Walshes' luxury home at Lake Caroline, and they had failed to pay the final construction invoice. When Stroud sued to collect the final invoice, the Walshes counterclaimed. (R. 000025.) They asserted that certain construction defects existed and sought damages for alleged poor workmanship, primarily to the roof.

During the construction project, the Walshes had routinely and consistently paid each and every monthly invoice submitted by Stroud with one exception. At the end of the project and only then, the Walshes refused to pay the final job invoices and still owed \$127,321.81. (R. 250-268.) This evidence of failure to pay the last invoice is unrefuted, and this single fact necessitates a ruling in favor of Stroud.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

The Honorable William Agin presided over a jury trial in the Madison County Court that commenced on June 5, 2007. The jury returned a verdict against Stroud on the breach of contract claim, concluding that *nothing was owed* under the contract even though the undisputed record evidence established that the Walshes had not paid the final \$127,321.81. Through a special verdict form, the jury simultaneously returned a verdict in favor of the Walshes on their counterclaim in the

¹The references to the clerk's file are referred to as R. 000001 - R. 000871, references to hearing and trial testimony are referred to as R. 1 - R. 901, references to trial exhibits are referred to as EX. 000001 - EX. 000690, and record excerpts are referred to as R.E. 1 - R.E. 5.

amount of \$90,000, which reflected a damages award for alleged poor workmanship on the roof. Final judgment was entered on this claim on December 19th, 2007, and that judgment was *not* appealed. (R. 000848.) Hence, the Walshes recovered for the alleged roof problems while Stroud's final invoice remained (and remains) unpaid.

On January 15, 2008, Stroud Construction filed a Notice of Appeal with the Madison County Circuit Court. Stroud Construction appealed the following issues: 1) Whether the trial court erred in denying Stroud Construction's request for a directed verdict and/or peremptory instruction declaring the construction contract to be a cost-plus contract; 2) Whether the trial court committed error in refusing Stroud Construction's motion *in limine* to require that the contract be referred to and characterized as a cost-plus contract and simultaneously preclude references that attempted to mis-characterize the contract as something else; and 3) Whether the jury verdict in favor of the Walshes was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The Honorable Judge William E. Chapman, III, affirmed the trial court. Stroud Construction appeals Judge Chapman's decision because even conceding that parol evidence was properly admissible to interpret the contract between the parties (which the Circuit Court concluded), there is simply no record evidence to explain or justify the Walshes' failure to pay the last invoice for the home. The trial court, the Circuit Court, and the Appellees have all failed to explain how and why the contract price for the Walshes' luxury home was \$127,321.81 less than what the construction company billed. The Walshes ignore the issue and simply act as though the agreed upon price for the home was everything that Stroud billed except the last invoice.

C. Statement of Facts

a. The Construction Contract and Building Process

The Walshes and Stroud executed a written construction contract in July, 2001. The contract required that Stroud Construction, Inc. build a luxury home for Bill and Cindy Walsh on Lot 8 of Lake Caroline Subdivision. (R.E. 5; EX. 000004.) Pursuant to the contract, Stroud did construct a high-end, 4500 square foot waterfront home and separate boat house to the plans and specifications provided by the Walshes. (R. 000547.)

In turn, the contract obligated the buyers to pay the builder for the actual costs associated with the construction of the house, plus an agreed upon builder's fee of \$52,500, plus an agreed upon "overhead" percentage of 1.25%. (EX. 000548-000549.) During the construction process, and consistent with the standard practice for cost-plus contracts, Stroud regularly submitted detailed monthly billings to the Walshes. (EX. 000009, 000012, 000034, 000050, 000080, 000123, 000145, 000162, 000179, 000201, 000242, 000294, 000368.) The invoices detailed the work completed *and* the cost of the materials and labor. (R. 243-244.) The invoices further reflected the agreed-upon 1.25% overhead charge and a pro-rated contractor charge (based on the contractor fee of \$52,500.) The Walshes paid each invoice throughout the project until they moved in. (R. 250-268.)

The contract nowhere sets a "fixed" price for the home. Rather, the contract contains (in paragraph 2) an "estimate" for the price, which was \$752,145.00.² (R.E. 5; EX. 000004.) Notably, the contract's use of the term "estimate price" was in place of the term "contract price" which was stricken through. Again, the evidence is undisputed that the Walshes paid the invoices throughout

²A number of estimate worksheets supporting the estimate were completed by Stroud. (EX. 000545-000549.)

the project but "at closeout" refused to pay the "Balance of Cost and Builder's Fee," which was specifically required in paragraph 2 of the contract. (R.E. 5; EX. 000004.)

In support of their position that they were not obligated to pay the last invoices, the Walshes seemed to claim at trial either that the contract had a "cap" or that certain costs should have been "fixed" or alternatively that they were just plain "overcharged." But the record evidence for all of these positions is non-existent, which calls into question how the jury could have rendered a verdict simply relieving the Walshes of the final payment due under the contract.

In other words, there was no evidence that Stroud's documentation and detailed invoices were not a true reflection of the actual costs of building the home. In fact, all evidence was to the contrary,³ and even Bill Walsh⁴ specifically testified that he knew he was paying for construction costs, plus overhead, plus a builder's fee⁵ (which is precisely what the contract requires).⁶ (R. 243.) Effectively, the contract was "capped" by this jury verdict, and yet there is no legal or factual basis for refusing payment of the contract pursuant to its terms. The question is why the jury, the trial Court, and Circuit Court (on appeal) refused to award Stroud the final \$127,321.81 due under the

³Bill Walsh and Ken Lefoldt, the Walshes' expert, unequivocally conceded at trial that all amounts billed by Stroud were actually expended on their home. (R. 263, 273, 617, and 622.)

⁴Bill Walsh has owned a sheet metal contracting business since 1982 and Cindy Walsh has owned an interior decorating firm since 1991. (R. 233 and R. 379.) They obviously are both knowledgeable about the construction industry.

⁵Furthermore, both Bill and Cindy Walsh admitted at trial that the construction contract does not state that the total cost of the home would come within a budgeted cost. (R. 242 and R. 403.)

⁶These applications for payment reflected in detailed form the total costs completed and billed to date. Consistent with the agreement, each monthly application received by the Walshes also stated at the top "Contract for: All costs plus one and a quarter percent plus a set fee." (R. 244 and EX. 000009.)

contract as if there was a contract that simply allowed the Walshes to skip the last payment. Even accepting the Circuit Court's conclusion that parol evidence was properly considered, there is no parol evidence supporting an agreed upon contract price of every invoice Stroud submitted except the last invoice!

The trial evidence was further undisputed that the Walshes required numerous and substantial changes to the home during the construction process, which necessitated changes to the house plans, increases in material costs, and increased labor and oversight time. Some of the additions and changes included:

- Adding a "music room" in an unfinished space, which the Walshes ultimately requested to be finished all the way through sheetrock and priming the walls with paint (R. 398);
- Adding at least one arch to the interior of the house, requiring a change in some door positions (R. 381);
- Re-working the finish on the bricks because the Walshes were not satisfied with the
 color and requested that individual bricks be sanded to achieve a different color effect
 (R. 494);
- Re-framing the rear of the house after the Walshes requested the installation of a motorized screen for the porch (R. 382);
- Adding a door in the garage (R. 399); and
- Re-vamping many aspects of the boathouse (and the plans for the boat house were
 not even provided to Stroud until after the contract had been signed and construction
 had begun) (R. 384.)

This course of conduct in which the owners made changes, even when considered as parol evidence, was consistent with the understanding that the buyer was paying for the actual cost of the home, plus the 1.25% fee, plus the builder's fee. This course of conduct allowed the buyer to control the ultimate plan for the home, which is also consistent with a cost-plus contract, not a "capped" contract. Again, the unanswered question is why the final \$127,321.81 of the contract was simply forgiven? What record evidence – whether it be the terms of the contract or parol evidence – supports a contract price of everything Stroud billed except the last bill?

What is absent in the trial record, factually and legally, is an explanation of how the Walshes, the buyers, could be entitled to "cap" or "fix" a construction contract price in the scenario in which (a) the contract nowhere allows it, (b) the house plans were evolving as the process moved forward, and (c) some plans were not even available at the time the contract was signed. *See supra* note 7.

b. The Refusal to Pay the Final Invoices

At trial, Lance Stroud testified that Mr. Walsh told him several times between September, 2002, and January, 2003, that the Walshes *would pay* the amount they believed was due, which they

⁷ Notably, some of the construction plans were not even provided to Stroud until *after* the contract was signed and after construction began. For example:

[•] Electrical plans were not provided to Stroud until after the budget had been prepared and construction had begun (R. 380); and

[•] The boathouse plans were prepared by Cindy Walsh and changed numerous times, but the original plans were not provided to Stroud until after the contract had been signed and construction had begun (R. 384.)

Were the contract "capped" or "fixed," all plans necessarily would have been prepared before the contract was finalized.

said was \$124,484.77.8 (R. 482-483.) Mr. Walsh did not deny at trial telling Lance Stroud that he would pay the final invoice and admitted that he never told Mr. Stroud that he was not going to pay him. (R. 268-69.) Even so, the Walshes never paid the amount due, resulting in Stroud's filing of this lawsuit. (R. 272.)

The Walshes' counterclaim against Stroud asserted various breach of contract and negligence claims. (R. 000025.) The counterclaim, under which the Walshes *did recover*, was essentially a claim of inadequate workmanship as to the roof and a few other items concerning the home. Because the Walshes recovered on the claim for poor workmanship, it is even more incumbent on this Court to ensure that Stroud be paid the final invoice.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The construction contract and the worksheet estimates provided that the price was to be cost of materials and labor, plus a 1.25% overhead fee, plus a flat builder's fee of \$52,500. The parties conduct during the course of the home construction confirmed the arrangement, to the extent it needed confirmation. That is, Stroud submitted monthly detailed billing reflecting the costs incurred during the prior period, plus the 1.25% fee, plus the pro-rated portion of the builder's fee of \$52,500.

Not until the project was completed did the Walshes ever fail to pay the monthly "cost-plus" invoices. Just as Stroud was obligated by the jury verdict to correct the workmanship issues (through the payment of damages in the amount of \$90,000), the Walshes must be required to fulfill the

⁸ Pursuant to the contract that required "balance of cost and builder's fee" to be paid "at closeout" (R.E. 5, EX. 000004), Stroud sent a final certificate for payment in September, 2002. On November 12, 2002, Cindy Walsh provided Stroud with a "reconciliation" of what she believed the correct balance to be. (R. 267.) She claimed that the outstanding balance was \$124,484.77. (R. 267.)

contract and pay the remaining \$127,321.81 due under the parties' construction contract as there is no dispute that the Walshes did not pay the final invoice. There is no basis in this record or in the law for refusing to award Stroud the money due under the contract. Moreover, there is no record support for a construction contract price that consisted of everything Stroud billed *except the final invoice*.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Stroud contends that the jury verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Because it was undisputed that the Walshes did *not* pay the final invoices, the jury could only have found against Stroud by concluding that the construction contract was "capped" or "fixed" at an amount certain. Such a finding was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. In assessing Stroud's alternative position that the jury rendered an improper verdict, this Court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant. *White v. Stewman*, 932 So. 2d 27, 32 (Miss. 2006). Under this standard, if the facts point overwhelmingly in favor of the movant *such that reasonable people could not have arrived at a contrary verdict*, this Court must reverse and render. *Id*.

Also, the trial court should have ruled peremptorily, as requested, that the construction contract was a cost-plus contract. This contract characterization would have required that Stroud be paid for the last invoice. The Court's refusal to direct its ruling on this issue must be reviewed *de novo*. In other words, denials of requests for peremptory instructions and motions for a directed verdict are reviewed *de novo*. White v. Stewman, 932 So. 2d 27, 32 (Miss. 2006.)

Finally, the trial court should have granted Stroud's motion *in limine* to require that the contract be characterized and referred to as a cost-plus contract and to preclude references that attempted to mis-characterize the contract. An appellate court examines a trial court's decision to allow evidence, including motions *in limine*, under an "abuse of discretion" standard. *Fitch v. Valentine*, 959 So. 2d 1012, 1022 (Miss. 2007).

B. The trial court erred in refusing to rule that the contract was a cost-plus contract that the Walshes had failed to pay.

At the close of the Walsh's evidence, Stroud requested a directed verdict that the contract was cost-plus. (R. 758.) Stroud renewed this motion at the conclusion of it's own evidence as the counter-defendant. (R. 810.) The lower Court did not rule that the Walshes had breached the contract by their failure to pay the last invoice. (R. 771.) Rather, the trial court submitted the issue to the jury even in the face of unrefuted evidence that the Walshes had not paid the last invoice. On appeal, the Circuit Court found that the trial court properly allowed the jury to consider parol evidence to interpret the contract and yet did not attempt to explain how – even considering parol evidence – any fact finder could support a verdict that the contract price was everything Stroud billed except the final invoice.

There was no dispute that the Walshes had failed to pay the final invoice. Yet the contract did *not* state that the Walshes could forgo the final payment. It did not entitle the Walshes to a \$127,321.81 credit. The jury's decision, the trial court's decision, and the Circuit Court's decision remain unexplained as to this key issue.

Admittedly, the contract contained an "estimate" line. But it did not contain a "cap." It had no "fixed" price. So factually and legally, Stroud was (and still is) owed the final invoice (shortfall) of \$127,321.81. There is simply no basis on this record to deny Stroud what is due under the contract terms regardless of whether parol evidence is considered or not considered.

In refusing to direct a verdict for Stroud or instruct the jury that the Stroud-Walsh contract was a cost-plus contract, the trial court may have relied on *Shaw v. Bula Cannon Shops*, 38 So. 2d 916 (Miss. 1949.) (R. 771.) In *Shaw*, the Court ruled that a contractor operating under a cost-plus contract has a duty to keep accurate and correct accounts of all material used and labor performed so that the owner may have sufficient information to assess whether the work claimed to be done was actually the work done. In *Shaw*, payment was *not* required because, "through needless extravagance, waste and negligence or lack of supervision a very large percentage of the materials charged against the work never found their way into the completed structure." *Id.* at 918-19.

But *Shaw* plainly *supports* Stroud's claim for payment. The record is undisputed that Stroud submitted detailed monthly invoices (as is typical in cost-plus contracts), all of which the Walshes paid until the end of the project. (R. 250-268.) Most importantly for purposes of the *Shaw* analysis, the record is undisputed that Stroud's invoices adequately reflected charges for work on this project. The Walshes admitted as much. Bill Walsh testified that the amounts billed by Stroud were for amounts actually expended on their home. (R. 263 and 273.) Similarly, the Walshes' expert accountant, Ken Lefoldt, specifically testified that Stroud's monthly statements sufficiently documented how the money on the home was spent. (R. 617.) Neither of the Walshes testified that

⁹While Mrs. Walsh broadly complained that at times the labor cost seemed too high, she also testified that she had documented the labor hours charged for a six-week period and found

Stroud expended any money on materials or labor not specifically called for in the plans or requested by them. The trial record is devoid of any fact evidence of the type that drove the finding in *Shaw* that justified the buyer's non-payment of construction invoices. To the contrary, the record is undisputed that the invoices were well-documented and reflective of work performed on the construction project. (R. 273.)

The only way the jury, the trial court, and the Circuit Court could deprive Stroud of the final payment is by characterizing the contract as "fixed." But it was not. The contract itself nowhere says it is fixed. Also, considering parol evidence, the contract had to be a cost-plus contract without any "cap" or "fixed" guarantee because:

- Stroud documented his file and invoices and provided detailed bills to the Walshes
 which was only necessary if the Walshes were paying the costs of the construction
 and the labor. In other words, if the total price were fixed or capped, the Walshes did
 not need monthly invoices with all of the details as to the costs of the materials and
 labor.
- Bill Walsh admitted at trial he knew they were responsible for paying construction costs, overhead, and a builder's fee. (R. 243.)
- Cindy Walsh testified that in the very beginning stages of construction she became
 concerned about the cost of framing exceeding the amount estimated by Stroud, and

that the amount of time claimed was consistent with the amount of time the workers spent at the property. (R. 401; EX 000592.) Regardless, Mrs. Walsh had no expertise to conclude that the labor costs were inordinate, and no expert was produced to prove that point, if that is what was contended.

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