## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

STROUD CONSTRUCTION, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

No. 2009-CA-00725

**BILL AND CINDY WALSH** 

**APPELLEES** 

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEES BILL AND CINDY WALSH

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED** 

Robert T. Higginbotham, Jr. (MSB # J. Wilbourn Vise (M

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

STROUD CONSTRUCTION, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

No. 2009-CA-00725

BILL AND CINDY WALSH

APPELLEES

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At the time that Mr. Stroud presented his second offer to the Walshes, he was the president and sole employee of Stroud, Inc. Mr. Stroud directly participated in and authorized the fraudulent inducement of the Walshes into the contract with Stroud, Inc. (See, Minter-iron railing bids). The evidence suggested that Mr. Stroud believed he could make a significant profit based on how he drafted his contract, ran his project, and treated his subcontractors.

Accordingly, Stroud, Inc., breached its contract, at best, or otherwise committed fraud against the Walshes.

Following three days of testimony, and after having reviewed all of the documents and evidence in this case, the Madison County jury returned a verdict against Stroud, Inc. on all of its claims against the Walshes, and in favor of the Walshes on their counterclaim against Stroud, Inc. In its Brief, Stroud, Inc. now complains that the jury should not have been permitted to hear any testimony from the Walshes or their experts that the contract was anything other than a "cost-plus" contract. Stroud, Inc.'s contention is contrary to well-settled Mississippi law.

Ironically, in its Brief, Stroud, Inc., characterizes the contract as "cost-plus" no less than eighteen times! However, the parties to the contract never referred to the contract as "cost-plus."

In fact, the term "cost-plus" appears **nowhere** in the contract!<sup>5</sup>

The contract itself states the "estimate price" for the construction is \$745,145.00, which was clearly adopted from a negotiated budget. (Ex. P-1; D-4; R.E. 0006-0008; R.E. 0003-0004). This Honorable Court has long held that the term "estimate price" or "estimate cost" is by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Recall, Stroud, Inc., would have this Court refer to an unsigned contract.

definition ambiguous and susceptible to more than one meaning, including a definite cost. Both Bill and Cindy Walsh testified that they believed that Mr. Stroud would complete the project for \$745,145.00, a figure which was negotiated between the parties and included the items for which the Walshes paid directly. (Ex. D-15; R.E. 0005) Indeed, Mr. Stroud represented to Madison County that the value of his work on the project would only be \$525,000.00. (Ex. D-5; R.E. 0009). The parties, the County Court, the jury, and the Circuit Court all knew and appreciated what was going on here.

Further, as Mr. Sistrunk plainly testified, the project got out of control because of Mr. Stroud's lack of supervision and oversight, and perhaps his desire to profit off of the Walshes or his subcontractors. That is, his negligence and/or breach of contract. Accordingly, the trial court correctly denied Stroud, Inc.'s motion for a directed verdict that this was a cost plus contract. For the same reasons, the trial court also correctly denied Stroud, Inc.'s motion in limine that would have prevented the Walshes from testifying that the contract was anything other than costplus. Stroud, Inc. did not then nor can it now meet its legal burden to overcome Judge Agin's decisions, the reasoned verdict of the jury, nor Judge Chapman's learned review on appeal.

In conclusion, the jury verdict should be sustained because, as restated here, the evidence overwhelmingly pointed in favor of the Washes.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED STROUD, INC.'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT ON THE MEANING OF "ESIMATED PRICE."

Stroud, Inc. made a motion for a directed verdict that the contract was cost-plus. The trial court correctly denied Stroud, Inc.'s motion and allowed the jury to consider all of the evidence

regarding the contract so that it could decide what the contract was. Accordingly, the contract in this case was negotiated and agreed upon, as evidenced by the documents, the testimony of the witnesses, and the findings of the jury.

"The grant or denial of a directed verdict is reviewed *de novo.*" White v. Stewman, 932 So.2d 27, 32 (Miss. 2006) (citations omitted).

"De novo means 'anew' or 'afresh." Black's Law Dictionary 226 (5th ed. 1983). De novo review allows the court to reexamine the evidence decided by the finder of fact, which is viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party as opposed to being bound by the fact finders' determination. Jones v. State, 972 So.2d 579, 580 (2008) (citations omitted). [emphasis added].

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that under the de novo review, an appellate court "will consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellee, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inference that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence... If there is substantial evidence in support of the verdict, that is, evidence of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, affirmance is required. Sperry-New Holland, a Div. of Sperry Corp. v. Prestage, 617 So.2d 248, 252 (Miss. 1993) (citations omitted). [emphasis added].

In the case of F.P. Baylot Co. v. Habeeb, 245 Miss. 439, 149 So.2d 847 (1962), the Mississippi Supreme held that "estimated cost" is by definition an ambiguous term. The Court stated that:

Where there is dispute between the parties as to the meaning of "estimated costs", it can only mean that an ambiguity arose from the terms of the contract.

We believe that it is a question that should be submitted to the jury.

Such a situation was presented in New Orleans Terminal Company v. Dixie Rendering, Inc., 179 So. 98 (La. 1938), where a detailed estimate of the cost of making repairs to a railroad track was submitted for \$2,070.00. When the repairs were actually made it cost \$796.21 more and the court gave judgment for additional amount. Part of [sic] opinion is as follows:

"When we decided the question presented by the exception of no cause of action, we realized that there may be instances where the word 'estimate' could have been intended as a 'bid' or a definite offer as well as being used in its ordinary sense to denote an approximation of the cost for which certain work would be done. It was for this reason that we felt that, in view of the controversy between the parties, it was necessary and proper for parol evidence to be introduced in order that the true intention of the obligor and obligee might be resolved. But without the aid of parol evidence, we would have been prompted to hold that the word 'estimate' was used in the plaintiff's letter in its ordinary and usual sense. Bouv. Law. Dict., Baldwin's Library Edition, p. 365, defines the word 'estimate' to be: 'A word used to express the mind or judgment of the speaker or writer on the particular subject under consideration. It implies a computation or calculation. (People v. Clark) 37 Hun (201) 203

"'A rough valuation; an appraisement. English. Equivalent to "assess". Both mean "to fix" the amount of the damages or the value of the thing to be ascertained. 11 A. & E. Ency. 2nd Ed., 383; (Roddy & Dahm v. McGetrick) 49 Ala. (159) 162.

"Estimated cost of a building held to mean the reasonable cost of a building erected in accordance with the plans and specifications referred to, and not necessarily the amount of some actual estimate made by a builder, nor an estimate agreed upon by the parties, nor yet an estimate or bid accepted by the defendant. Id.; (Lambert v. Sanford) 55 Conn. 437, (12 A. 519).'

"In the syllabus of the case of Egleston v. Hirsch, No. 9549 of our Docket, see Louisiana and Southern Digest, which involved a question somewhat similar to the one now under review, we said:

"A clause in a building contract reading: "My maximum estimate of the cost of your work is six thousand dollars, including my commission, though I expect to get through with less money, possibly as little as five thousand dollars," carries no warranty as to the ultimate cost, and cannot be pleaded as such by the owner when he is sued for an unpaid balance due the builder as commissions based on ten per cent of the maximum estimate.'

"In Bautovich v. Great Southern Lumber Co., 129 La. 857, 56 So. 1026, 1027, Ann. Cas. 1913B, 848, our Supreme Court had occasion to consider the word 'estimate' as used in a contract. In defining its meaning, the court observed:

"'The word "estimate" precludes accuracy, and its ordinary meaning is to calculate roughly or to form an opinion from imperfect data. Words and Phrases, (First Series) vol. 3, p. 2493. The word "estimate" has no more certainty than the terms "about" or "more or less"."

In the case of Texas Co. v. Jackson, 174 Miss. 737, 165 So. 546, the Court said:

"\* \* The evidence of the practical construction placed by parties on their contracts is admissible as an aid in its interpretation when the contract is ambiguous or its meaning not clear, \* \* \*."

"Whenever the terms of a contract are susceptible of more than one interpretation, or an ambiguity arises, or the intent and object of the contract cannot be ascertained from the language employed, parol evidence may be introduced to show what was in the minds of the parties at the time of making the contract. \* \* \* " 20 Am. Jur., Evidence, Sec. 1147. The ambiguity may arise from words which are uncertain when applied to the subject matter of the contract. Traders' Ins. Co. of Chicago v. Edwards Post 1905, 86 Miss. 135, 38 So. 779. 53 Am. Jur., Trial, Sec. 266, states: "Where a contract is to be construed by its terms alone, it is the duty of the court to interpret it; but where its meaning is obscure, and its construction depends upon other and extrinsic facts in connection with what is written, the question of interpretation should be submitted to the jury, under proper instructions." It is for the jury to determine what is the agreement of the parties, where there is uncertainty in a written contract because of ambiguity or doubtfulness. 53 Am. Jur., Sec. 267, 269; Harris v. Williams (Miss. 1949), 43 So.2d 364; Frisby v. Grayson, 1953, 216 Miss. 753, 63 So.2d 96. This case was specially followed in Hadad v. Booth, 225 Miss. 63, 82 So.2d 639 (1955); and Covington Cadillac Company v. South Aire, Inc., 136 So.2d 866.

F.P. Baylot Co. v. Habeeb, 245 Miss. 439, 445-447, 149 So.2d 847 (1962).

In this case no reasonable person could disagree that Stroud, Inc., directly participated in the original fraudulent inducement of the Walshes into the contract. Mr. Stroud was the president and sole employee of Stroud, Inc. The Walshes rejected Mr. Stroud's initial offer because it was too expensive. Mr. Stroud, determined to induce the Walshes into a contract with Stroud, Inc., submitted a second contract that was nearly \$200,000 less. Mr. Stroud failed to contact his subcontractors to determine whether it was possible to construct the Walshes'

residence for the lower amount. For example, James Minter of B & O Machine and Welding testified that his only bid to Mr. Stroud was \$16,124.50. (R. 590). Mr. Minter did not make any other offers to Mr. Stroud. (R. 590). However, Mr. Stroud's second contract offer reflected that Mr. Minter had bid \$12,125.00. Mr. Minter testified that he never made the lower bid to Mr. Stroud. (Compare, Ex. D-2, R.E. 0001 at para. 26 with Ex. D-4, R.E. 0003 at para. 26)

Accordingly, Mr. Stroud knowingly misrepresented the actual cost of the project that he was contracting. This is fraud. The Walshes reasonably relied on Mr. Stroud's misrepresentations, entered a contract, and suffered damages as the proximate result of Mr. Stroud's misrepresentations.

According to Mr. Sistrunk, Mr. Stroud, as Stroud, Inc.'s only employee, also had a contractual and legal duty to regularly oversee the construction and management of this project, which Mr. Stroud failed to do in a reasonable manner. (R. 709-10).

Nevertheless, in its Brief, Stroud, Inc. argues that the Walshes should have been prohibited from testifying that that the contract price of \$752,145.00 was a firm price. (Stroud, Inc.'s Brief, 17). Although "estimated price" is not defined anywhere in the contract, Stroud, Inc. argues that the terms of the contract were clear. (Stroud's Brief, 16). However, the Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that the word "estimate" by definition "precludes accuracy." *Habeeb*, 245 Miss. 439, 446, 149 So. 2d 847. The meaning of "estimated cost" or "estimated price" is a question that must be presented to the jury. *Id.* at 445. "It is for the jury to decide what is the agreement of the parties where there is uncertainty in a written contract because of ambiguity or doubtfulness." *Id.* 

The Walshes' testimony and Mr. Stroud's testimony concerning the negotiations between

the parties were all presented to the jury. Mr. Stroud had his say too. The evidence, however, reflected to Judge Agin, the jury, and Judge Chapman that the parties in this case disputed the meaning of "estimated price." For example, Mr. Stroud informed Mr. Walsh that he was going to build the Walshes' new home for \$752,145.00 (R. 303). Bill Walsh testified that he understood that the house would be built for that amount of money. (R. 298). Consistent with his understanding of the contract, Bill Walsh struck out that portion of the contract which stated, in essence, that their entire agreement was contained within the four corners of the two-page contract. Indeed, this is further evidence that their negotiated and total-price-to-build budget (\$752,154.00) was also a part of the contract. Cindy Walsh also testified that she understood that Stroud, Inc. would build the house for the amount Mr. Stroud offered in his negotiated and agreed upon budget. (R. 396).

Further, estimated price is not defined anywhere in the contract. Stroud, Inc. drafted and presented the contract to the Walshes, and any ambiguity should be construed against it. *Banks* v. *Banks*, 648 So. 2d 1116, 1121 (Miss. 1994) ("When the terms of a contract are vague and ambiguous, they are always construed more strongly against the party preparing it.").

Under well-settled Mississippi law, the Walshes were entitled to present evidence to the jury concerning their interpretation of the contract and the meaning of "estimated cost." Reviewing all of this in the light most favorable to the Walshes (Appellees), it is clear that Judge Agin did not err by denying Stroud, Inc.'s motion for a directed verdict, nor did Judge Chapman on appeal.

# II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED STROUD, INC'S MOTION IN LIMINE.

At trial, Stroud, Inc. made a motion in limine to prevent the Walshes from testifying that

the contract was anything other than a cost-plus contract. This is amazing, because the term "cost-plus" appears nowhere in the Stroud, Inc., drafted contract. The trial court, therefore, correctly denied Stroud, Inc.'s motion.

"The denial of a motion *in limine* is reviewed for an abuse of discretion." *McDowell v. State*, 807 So.2d 413, 421 (Miss. 2001). "A motion in limine should be granted only when the trial court finds two factors are present: (1) the material or evidence in question will be inadmissible at a trial under the rules of evidence; and (2) the mere offer, reference, or statements made during trial concerning the material will tend to prejudice the jury." *Brawner v. State*, 872 So.2d 1, 13 (Miss. 2004) (citations omitted).

"The standard of review for the admission or exclusion of evidence gives the trial judge a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. Unless a judge abuses this discretion so as to be prejudicial . . . , this Court will not reverse the ruling." *Shaw v. State*, 915 So.2d 442, 445 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2005) (citations omitted).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that even a contractor who works on a cost-plus basis has a "duty to keep accurate and correct accounts of all materials used and performed." Shaw v. Bula Cannon Shops, Inc., 205 Miss. 470-71, 38 So. 2d 916 (1949). However, that is not enough. If the total cost of a project is "so excessive and unreasonable as to suggest gross negligence or fraud, the law will impose upon the contractor a duty of establishing the bona fides of his performance of the work. The contractor does not have the right to expend any amount of money he may see fit upon the work, regardless of the propriety, necessity, or honesty of the expenditure, and then compel repayment by the other party who has confided in his integrity, ability, and industry." Id. at 471.

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